The Benefits of Enhanced Folk Dance Sessions for Stroke Rehabilitation in Terms of Motor Learning

Laura Barbara Varga¹ (ABEF), Csenger Benda^{1,2} (ABEF), Edit Nagy¹ (ACDEF)

¹ Department of Physiotherapy, Faculty of Health and Social Sciences, University of Szeged, Szeged, Hungary

² Neurorehabilitation Unit, Department of Neurology, Albert Szent-Györgyi Health Centre, Hungary

Keywords

dance, training stroke, dynamic balance, mood

Abstract

Introduction: Stroke is a major burden on individuals as well as the rehabilitation system. Dance training is a possible tool used to influence gait and postural control in stroke survivors.

Objectives: The aim of the study is to assess the benefits of a folk dance enhanced rehabilitation programme on functional outcome measures and to clarify in which aspect it may improve balance and gait parameters.

Material and methods: In this pre-post study 24 chronic stroke patients were enrolled. The patients were divided into the control group (CG) and folk dance training group (DG) on a voluntary basis. The CG received conventional rehabilitation five times a week for 50 minutes, the DG took part in additional folk dance sessions five times a week for 50 minutes besides the conventional rehabilitation. Functional balance and gait parameters, hand function and mood were recorded before and after a three week rehabilitation programme. All data were subjected to analysis of variance and Wilcoxon's matched pairs test. **Results:** Both groups improved significantly in each assessed parameter except for the mood of CG after the intervention period. The analysis of variance revealed that in terms of mood, the folk dance enhanced rehabilitation was superior to conventional treatment only. Furthermore, the DG improved significantly in the dynamic characteristics of gait and balance, while the changes in the static balance features and hand function did not reach the level of statistical significance.

Conclusions: The data suggest that a folk dance is a feasible way to complete rehabilitation protocol especially in improving mood and dynamic balance parameters.

INTRODUCTION

Stroke is a major burden on the individual as well as the rehabilitation system since it is the second leading cause of both disability and death worldwide, with the highest burden of the disease shared by low- and middle-income countries^{1,2}. Balance impairment is one of the common impairments in patients after stroke, which is related to worse physical impairments, disability and low quality of life. Reliable balance ability after stroke is a prerequisite for regaining the independence of gait and activities of daily living³. Evidence supports that dance can be one possible tool in rehabilitation to improve balance as it represents a complex biopsychosocial impact on persons. Dance is an effective way to improve physical, psychosocial and cognitive function for poststroke persons while also promoting meaningful social relationships within the community⁴.

According to the results of a recent scoping review about the impact of dance on stroke rehabilitation, the studies demonstrating dance may facilitate changes in balance and fall risk, encourage confidence, promote comfort with the changed body, increase rehabilitation motivation and facilitate community reintegration⁵. A dance programme designed for chronic stroke patients has shown to be safe and feasible post-stroke⁶, and no adverse effects have been reported⁷. Attendance and satisfaction were high and participants perceived walking as well as balance benefits⁶. Dance training (DT) appears to show positive effects on post-stroke body functions⁷.

Moreover, dance training seems to positively influence motor learning abilities. Since movement and therefore dance propels hippocampal and cortical oscillations, which increase synaptic plasticity, facili-

The individual division of this paper was as follows: A – research work project; B – data collection; C – statistical analysis; D – data interpretation; E – manuscript compilation; F – publication search

Article received: 10 Mar. 2023 / accepted: 04 Jan. 2024

Please cite as: Varga L.B., Benda C., Nagy E. The Benefits of Enhanced Folk Dance Sessions for Stroke Rehabilitation in Terms of Motor Learning. Med Rehabil 2023; 27(4): 49-55. DOI: 10.5604/01.3001.0054.2773

Internet version (original): www.rehmed.pl

This article is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International License CC BY-SA (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/4.0/)

tate enhanced communication between brain areas, and optimise brain functioning throughout adulthood and into old age. It has been proposed that transient coupling between rhythms can guide bidirectional information transfer among these structures and might serve to consolidate memory traces⁸.

Through dance, neuronal populations of the brain become highly synchronised, which support rhythmic coordination between different brain regions (e.g. those that support sensory, motor, cognitive or emotional abilities)⁹. According to the results and conclusions of a recent metaanalysis, undertaking structured dance of any genre is equally and occasionally more effective than other types of structured exercise for improving a range of health outcome measures¹⁰.

Csárdás (pronounced CHARHdash) is a Hungarian Folk Dance art. The core of the dance is the Csárdás step, which is simply a sideways stepclose; or, more often, a "double"step-close-step-pause to one side followed by the same to the other. The other key element is a slow start, gradually accelerating to a frenetic finish. The length of dance and rate of acceleration varies greatly with the dancers. Improvisation is the key, and variety the norm¹¹.

The steps of the Csárdás during folk dance sessions include multiple rhythmic weight shifts driven by external auditory cues. When a sequential movement is driven by external cues, the premotor area – cerebellar circuits are involved in the organisation of the movement¹².

OBJECTIVES

Although the results in the literature are convincing about the positive effects of dance on gait and balance functions in general, they are heterogeneous concerning the characteristics of dance interventions. Therefore, we have chosen a more targeted dance art as an intervention in order to analyse its specific effects on outcome tests. We have formulated the following research questions:

- 1. What are the additional effects of a folk dance enhanced rehabilitation programme in comparison with a conventional rehabilitation programme?
- 2. Are there any specific effects of this programme on functional out-come measures?

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Subjects

A total of 24 people with a history of stroke voluntarily participated in the study, the mean (mean \pm SD) age of the participants being 65.54±10.76 years and the average number of years after stroke totalling 1.67±1.55. The male/female ratio was 42/58%. The participants took part in a three-week inpatient complex rehabilitation programme which includes physical therapy, occupational therapy, psychotherapy and speech language therapy sessions as part of a conventional rehabilitation programme. Besides this conventional programme, the patients could choose additional folk dance sessions. The inclusion criterion was having a stroke within five years, taking part in the three-week long program, having a Functional Ambulatory Category of at least 3

and having good, acceptable cooperation and patient compliance as well as willingness to participate in the programme.

The exclusion criteria were the following: musculoskeletal conditions, such as pain that interfered with movement, inflammation, endoprosthesis, unstable cardiopulmonary status, severe comorbidities that affect physical fitness and training capacity such as malignant tumours, serious organ and respiratory diseases. All participants provided written informed consent for participation in the trial. The study is in compliance with the principles of the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki. The investigations were approved by the National Institute of Pharmacy and Nutrition and registered under number OGY-ÉI/41694/2019.

Division into groups

The participants were divided into two groups. One of the groups served as a control (CG, n=12). This group took part in the conventional rehabilitation programme only, where physical therapy was provided five times a week, each session lasting 50 minutes, while the other group (DG, n=12) voluntarily took part in enhanced folk dance sessions (five times a week, 50 minutes) be-



Figure 1

Study design. Flow chart diagram of study design

Abbreviations: DT – Folk dance training, CT – Control/conventional training, DG – Folk dance training group, CG – Control/conventional training group, FSST – Four Square Step Test, TUG – Timed Up and Go, BBS – Berg Balance Scale, DGI – Dynamic Gait index, VAMS – Visual Analogue Mood Scale sides the conventional programme. A flowchart diagram of the study design can be seen in Figure 1. There were no significant differences between the groups regarding age, BMI and the time following stroke. The mean age of the CG was 65 ± 11.13 years and that of the DG 66.1 ± 11.83 years, while the time after stroke was 1.71 ± 1.62 years for the CG and 1.63 ± 1.55 years in the case of the DG. The male/female ratio was the same in both groups (42/58%).

Interventions

Conventional physical therapy

Both groups had a three-week-long conventional physical therapy training protocol, five times per week, 50 minutes in duration. The members of the CT and DT groups participated in an individualised exercise regimen during the conventional training programme in the physical therapy sessions. The main elements were functional strengthening, improving trunk control, gait, motor coordination, postural control, upper extremity functions and balance.

Dance training

The members of the DT group participated in additional folk dance sessions. During the warm-up period, slow folk music (55 bpm) provided the rhythm for breathing exercises, general mobilisation of cervical spine, trunk and extremities.

The Csárdás sessions were built up gradually and progressively as the patients improved in learning the steps. In different starting positions, e.g. sitting or standing, various rhythm exercises were practiced, creating the rhythm by clapping the hands, tapping with the foot. Circle dance steps were used to enhance cross steps and synchronize the movement with the rhythm of the folk music. Due to the different conditions of the patients, external support was allowed to secure the position while practicing lower limb rhythm components and the initiation of Csárdás steps with slow folk music. We put emphasis on the quality of movement components during performance. Then, a 80 bpm "Füzesi Csárdás" was introduced standing in front of wall bars, offering external support. To introduce more variability, the participants practiced turning steps with the aid of a therapist, if needed. Following, the participants were able to accept faster – 120 bpm folk music, and practice steps at that rhythm. At the end of the session, the cool-down periods were performed in a seated position. The patients received homework. Their task was to memorize the motives, steps and practice mentally.

Outcome measurements

Balance was assessed using the Berg Balance Scale (BBS), which is a reliable measure in the case of stroke¹³, and the Four Square Step Test (FSST). The Berg Balance Scale (BBS) is a widely-used assessment tool applied to determine a person's balance abilities. The test contains 14 simple tasks, each of which are scored on a scale from 0 to 4, with higher scores indicating better balance. FSST is an accepted and reliable measurement instrument which also used in stroke rehabilitation to assess dynamic standing balance and coordination, including forward side and backward steps. The test allows to measure the time required to perform the steps¹⁴.

As for postural control during gait, the Timed Up and Go (TUG) test and the Dynamic Gait Index (DGI) were applied; the TUG is a simple test measuring time. It is used to assess a person's mobility and requires both static and dynamic balance¹⁵. We measured TUG to assess the risk of falling, sitto-stand, turning and gait for a short distance¹⁶.

Using the DGI, we tested the ability of the participants to maintain walking balance while responding to different task demands, through various dynamic conditions. Tthis outcome measure allows for a maximum of 24 scores¹⁶. Upper limb function was evaluated with the Box and Blocks (B&B) test measuring the unilateral gross manual dexterity¹⁷. Mood was assessed via the Visual Analogue Mood Scale (VAMS:0-10).

Data collection and analysis

Data were collected before and after the three-week training interventions during a separate data collection session. All the data were analysed using TIBCO Statistica 14 software. Wilcoxon's matched pairs tests were performed to assess the effect of the applied training types on each outcome measure and to find significant differences. Then, all the data were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) in order to make comparisons between the groups and the effects of the different training methods in terms of functional parameters of the participants. The applied post-hoc test was the Least Significant Difference multiple comparisons test. A 0.05 level of significance was adopted throughout the data analysis.

RESULTS

Descriptive statistics (means and standard deviations (*SD*)) are presented in Table 1. We would like to emphasize the Mood data changed from 5.42 ± 2.47 (mean \pm *SD*) to 8.50 ± 1.00 in the case of the DG, while from 4.58 ± 2.27 to 5.42 ± 1.73 with regard to the CG.

The results of the single Wilcoxon Matched Pairs tests showed significant improvement (p=0.03) in each of the assessed outcome measure parameters for both groups, with the exception of the Mood scale in case of the Control Group. The rehabilitation programme enhanced with folk dance seems to be superior in terms of Mood compared to the conventional programme only (Table 2).

Considering the results of ANOVA, when comparing the two groups in terms of training effects, the amount of improvement did not reach a level of statistical significance in the case of TUG and BBS measures in either of the groups (Figure 2). However, significant improvement was indicated in favour of the DG when analysing the DGI (p=0.04) and FSST (p=0.03) results, while the changes in the CG were not significant (Figure 3).

Descriptive results for each of the analysed variables and for each of the groups included in the study									
Variable	Group	Time	Valid N	Mean	Minimum	Maximum	Std. Dev.		
FSST	СТ	baseline	12.00	24.57	16.01	31.05	4.62		
FSST	СТ	after	12.00	22.32	13.94	30.08	5.26		
FSST	DT	baseline	12.00	27.41	11.70	73.01	17.52		
FSST	DT	after	12.00	18.18	7.88	34.76	7.53		
TUG	СТ	baseline	12.00	25.42	14.96	38.18	6.92		
TUG	СТ	after	12.00	22.74	13.46	34.25	7.04		
TUG	DT	baseline	12.00	24.53	9.02	59.32	13.64		
TUG	DT	after	12.00	19.12	7.71	43.10	11.02		
B&B	СТ	baseline	12.00	13.92	0.00	28.00	10.05		
B&B	СТ	after	12.00	18.67	0.00	32.00	11.78		
B&B	DT	baseline	12.00	19.50	0.00	39.00	14.10		
B&B	DT	after	12.00	23.75	2.00	43.00	15.29		
BBS	СТ	baseline	12.00	35.00	13.00	47.00	11.80		
BBS	СТ	after	12.00	41.50	30.00	49.00	7.23		
BBS	DT	baseline	12.00	39.42	24.00	56.00	9.86		
BBS	DT	after	12.00	46.75	25.00	56.00	8.73		
DGI	СТ	baseline	12.00	13.67	4.00	22.00	6.53		
DGI	СТ	after	12.00	17.50	12.00	23.00	3.87		
DGI	DT	baseline	12.00	13.42	6.00	23.00	4.46		
DGI	DT	after	12.00	17.50	7.00	24.00	4.23		
MOOD	СТ	baseline	12.00	4.58	1.00	8.00	2.27		
MOOD	СТ	after	12.00	5.42	2.00	8.00	1.73		
MOOD	DT	baseline	12.00	5.42	2.00	10.00	2.47		
MOOD	DT	after	12.00	8.50	7.00	10.00	1.00		

Abbreviations: FSST – Four Square Step Test, TUG – Timed Up and Go, B&B – Box & Blocks test, BBS – Berg Balance Scale, DGI – Dynamic Gait Index, N – Number, DT – Folk dance training, CT – Control/conventional training, Std. Dev. – Standard Deviation

Table 2

Table 1

Results of Wilcoxon's Matched Pairs test										
Control group	Valid N	т	Z	p-value						
FSST test	12.00	0.00	3.06	0.002						
TUG test	12.00	0.00	3.0	0.002						
B&B score	10.00	0.00	2.803	0.005						
BBS score	11.00	0.00	2.93	0.003						
DGI	10.00	0.00	2.80	0.005						
Mood	7.00	4.00	1.69	0.091						
Folk dance training group	Valid N	Т	Z	p-value						
FSST test	12.00	0.00	3.06	0.002						
TUG test	12.00	0.00	3.06	0.002						
B&B score	11.00	0.00	2.93	0.003						
BBS score	11.00	0.00	2.93	0.003						
DGI	10.00	0.00	2.80	0.005						
Mood	11.00	0.00	2.93	0.003						

Significant changes are marked in bold.

Abbreviations: FSST – Four Square Step Test, TUG – Timed Up and Go, B&B – Box & Blocks test, BBS – Berg Balance Scale, DGI – Dynamic Gait Index, N – Number, Z – Z-score, T – T-score

The B&B score did significant improvement in either of the groups, nonetheless, the Mood scale reflected significant elevation in mood after the folk dance training and the mood changes were significantly higher in the DG (p<0.001) compared to the CG (p=0.30) (Figure 4).

DISCUSSION

The main finding of the study is that conventional rehabilitation training completed with folk dance training sessions influenced mood significantly and the conventional rehabilitation programme enhanced with folk dance training seemed to be superior to the conventional programme, but only concerning mood changes. The chronic stroke patients potentially benefited from the additional folk dance sessions, given the



Figure 2

Results of Berg Balance scale and Timed Up and Go test.



Figure 3

Results of Dynamic Gait Index and Four Square Step test. Significant changes are marked with an asterisk.



Figure 4

Results of Box & Blocks test and Mood scale. Significant changes are marked with an asterisk.

fact that many of them suffered from mood changes as a consequence of stroke and evidence suggests that depression is a common experience for stroke survivors¹⁸.

Mood and the limbic system play a role in Postural Control (PC). There is growing evidence stating that posture, in general, influences mood and *vice versa* – as an example, stooped posture did not promote mood recovery as much as straight posture¹⁹. The embodiment approach to emotion generation proclaims that affective states can occur and be modified as a result of alterations in bodily postures, facial expression or an individual's voice²⁰, suggesting that upright posture induces positive mood states²¹.

Hungarian Folk Dance and Csárdás require upright posture, which by itself, may be capable of positively influencing mood, based on the above mentioned findings²¹. The effects of folk music can reach limbic areas since music as an emotional stimulus, modulates memory and can change mood as well²². In our study, it was not possible to determine the size of the effect on the mood changes in the case of folk music by itself, but we can postulate that folk dance and music together, in a complexity, strongly improved the mood of the participants.

The other important finding of the study is that the rehabilitation programme enhancedwith dance training resulted in stronger improvement in the FSST and DGI scores compared to CT only. These outcome measures are specific to dynamic balance features^{14,16}.

Movement components of the applied measures and identical elements with folk dance might potentially explain our results. The elements of FSST are quite similar to the steps of Csárdás. In terms of motor learning, this means transfer possibility, since transfer is used to demonstrate whether learning has occurred and if it can be transferred from one situation to another similar one. The DGI contains several dynamic balance components (e.g. step initiations when stepping over or around obstacles and walking on stairs, changes in speed, head movements). From our results, it may be deduced that folk music and folk dance improves the dynamic nature of PC and balance, since it contains dynamic weight shift components. Practicing dynamic weight shifts through Csárdás could be easily transferred to similar situations of FSST or DGI components and can explain the extra benefits of enhanced folk dance sessions expressed in those test results. Therefore, our results support the existing evidence^{6,7} noting that chronic stroke patients could benefit from additional folk dance sessions in terms of dynamic balance components.

Static balance conditions were not practiced during dance training and had different underlying neural processing as well as a different perceptual background, and as we found in our earlier study, specific skills could not be transferred even to a situation that was supposedly easier²³. Thus, physiotherapeutic interventions of this kind should be task-specific as well. The steps of Csárdás offer a task-specific component for dynamic weight shifts, which seems to be beneficial in stroke rehabilitation.

The sub-items of the Berg Balance scale include more static components of balance, thus it may be postulated that this type of folk dance does not affect static balance components as much as the dynamic features presented in DGI or FSST. The TUG test is relevant to movement initiation, gait speed and turning, and folk dance seemed to have no superior effect compared with the CT in this respect. Moreover, our results revealed that the enhanced dance sessions did not influence the hand function any better than CT only. These above-mentioned components were not practiced during the DT either, therefore, the motor learning principles explain well the lack of transfer effects.

The motor control and learning principles can further clarify our results, since our participants learned new dance steps during the folk dance sessions. The theoretical framework called the dynamical systems approach (DSA), increases our understanding of motor control. In recent decades, researchers studying human motor control have attempted to describe the synchronisation of rhythmic movement using DSA. More recently, this approach has been applied specifically to rhythmic dance movements²⁴.

From the point of view of system theory, movement is an emergent property: it emerges from the interaction of multiple elements that self-organise based on certain dynamic properties of the elements themselves²⁵. We postulate that folk music and rhythm may promote the self-organising nature of motor control, even in case of stroke survivors. Music and rhythm can be viewed as forms of sensory cueing. Considering that motor learning is a fundamental process in the rehabilitation of patients with stroke, attentional focus can impact the outcome of the rehabilitation programme.

In previous studies, it has been found that individuals perform and learn motor skills more effectively when they are instructed to adopt an external focus²⁶. External focus of attention promotes greater motor learning in the case of adults²⁷ and focusing attention externally versus internally enhances motor learning and performance²⁸. Music and rhythm during folk dance serve as external cues and draw focus of attention and rhythmic cueing already noted as effective in the rehabilitation of Parkinson's Disease²⁹. When external cues drive the sequential movement, the premotor area – cerebellar circuits – are more involved in the control of movement¹². These are excellent alternative pathways to control sequential movements in Parkinson's Disease, in which internal cues are compromised through the supplementary motor area – basal ganglia circuits.

Since external cues can control sequential movement and, in this case, the focus of attention is directed towards external stimuli, the FSST is a great example of when the movement sequence is governed by visual cues during assessment. DGI also contains several items that include external sensory cueing, especially visual (walking over and around obstacles) and auditory commands (when turning and moving the head during gait, changing gait speed and direction on auditory command). Therefore, these two outcome measures - FSST and DGI, turned out to be excellent indicators of the additional benefits of enhanced folk dance sessions in our study. The results may indicate sensitivity of these tests toward external cues and external focus of attention situations.

One limitation of the study is that it was not possible to determine the size of the effect of folk music by itself on significant mood changes since we used a complex folk music and folk dance interventions. Further investigations may reveal the separate effects of music and dance experiences. Moreover, the effects of social interactions should be determined as being, by themselves, possible therapeutic factors. In summary, our study allowed to provide evidence regarding the superior effect of folk dance on mood in the case of stroke survivors. Folk dance training based on Csárdás steps exerted more robust changes in FSST and DGI outcome measures, which might indicate sensitivity of these tests in measuring the benefits of external cuing and external focus of attention situations.

CONCLUSION

In our study the training effects of conventional rehabilitation training and conventional rehabilitation training completed with folk dance training were examined, and based on our results, the following conclusions have been formulated:

- 1. What are the additional effects of a folk dance augmented rehabilitation programme in comparison with the conventional rehabilitation programme? The data suggest that folk dance is a feasible way to complete the rehabilitation protocol, especially showing benefits in improving mood and dynamic balance parameters.
- 2. Are there any specific effects of a folk dance enhanced rehabilitation programme on functional outcome measures? As for the outcome measures, the FSST and DGI seemed to be an excellent indicator concerning the extra benefits of enhanced folk dance sessions. The results may indicate sensitivity of these tests towards external cues and external focus of attention situations. Therefore, the conventional rehabilitation training enhanced with folk dance training may be a viable therapeutic approach in the case of chronic stroke patients, utilising the power of folk music and dance in motor learning.

Abbreviations

DT – Folk dance training, CT – Control/conventional training, DG – Folk dance training group, CG – Control/conventional training group, FSST – Four Square Step Test, TUG – Timed Up and Go, B&B – Box & Blocks test, BBS – Berg Balance Scale, DGI – Dynamic Gait index, VAMS – Visual Analogue Mood Scale, PC – Postural Control.

Supporting information

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial or not-for-profit sectors.

All participants provided their informed written consent. All participants were informed that they could withdraw from the study at any time.

The study is in compliance with the principles of the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki.

The investigations were approved by the National Institute of Pharmacy and Nutrition, registered under the number OGY-Él/41694/2019.

References

- Saini V., Guada L., Yavagal D.R. Global Epidemiology of Stroke and Access to Acute Ischemic Stroke Interventions. Neurology 2021 Nov 16; 97(20 Suppl 2): S6-S16. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000012781.
- GBD 2017 Mortality Collaborators. Global, regional, and national age-sex-specific mortality and life expectancy, 1950-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet 2018: 392: 1684-1735. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31891-9.
- Li J., Zhong D., Ye J. et al. Rehabilitation for balance impairment in patients after stroke: a protocol of a systematic review and network meta-analysis. BMJ Open 2019; 19(9): e026844. doi: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2018-026844.
- Gregor S., Vaughan-Graham J., Wallace A., Walsh H. et al. Structuring community -based adapted dance programs for persons post-stroke: a qualitative study. Disabil Rehabil 2021; 43(18): 2621-2631. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2019.1708978.
- Kipnis D., Kruusamäe H., King M. et al. Dance interventions for individuals post-stroke - a scoping review. Top Stroke Rehabil 2023 Dec; 30(8): 768-785. doi: 10.1080/10749357.2022.2107469.
- Patterson K.K., Wong J.S., Nguyen T.U. et al. A dance program to improve gait and balance in individuals with chronic stroke: a feasibility study. Top Stroke Rehabil 2018; 25(6): 410-416. doi: 10.1080/10749357.2018.1469714.
- Ares-Benitez I., Billot M., Rigoard P. et al. Feasibility, acceptability and effects of dance therapy in stroke patients: A systematic review. Complement Ther Clin Pract 2022; 49: 101662. doi: 10.1016/j.ctcp.2022.101662.
- Sirota A., Buzsáki G. Interaction between neocortical and hippocampal networks via slow oscillations. Thalamus Relat Syst 2005; 3: 245-259. doi:10.1017/S147292880700025.
- Basso J.C., Satyal M.K., Rugh R. Dance on the Brain: Enhancing Intra- and Inter-Brain Synchrony. Front Hum Neurosci 2021; 7(14): 584312. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2020.584312.
- Fong Yan, A., Cobley S., Chan C. et al. The Effectiveness of Dance Interventions on Physical Health Outcomes Compared to Other Forms of Physical Activity: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Sports Med; 2018; 48: 933-951 doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0853-5.
- Folkdance Footnotes: Hungarian dance. [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://fo</u>lkdancefootnotes.org/dance/dance-information/hungarian-dance/ [cited 2023 March 10].
- Mushiake H., Inase M., Tanji J. Neuronal activity in the primate premotor, supplementary, and precentral motor cortex during visually guided and internally determined sequential movements. J Neurophysiol 1991 Sep; 66(3): 705-18. doi: 10.1152/jn.1991.66.3.705.
- Berg K., Wood-Dauphinee S., Williams J.I. The Balance Scale: reliability assessment with elderly residents and patients with an acute stroke. Scand J Rehabil Med 1995; 27(1): 27-36.
- Blennerhassett J.M., Jayalath V.M. The Four Square Step Test is a feasible and valid clinical test of dynamic standing balance for use in ambulant people poststroke. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2008 Nov; 89(11): 2156-61. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2008.05.012.
- Faria C.D., Teixeira-Salmela L.F., Nadeau S. Predicting levels of basic functional mobility, as assessed by the Timed "Up and Go" test, for individuals with stroke: discriminant analyses. Disabil Rehabil 2013; 35(2): 146-52. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2012.690497.

- Shumway-Cook A., Brauer S., Woollacott M. Predicting the probability for falls in community-dwelling older adults using the Timed Up & Go Test. Phys Ther 2000; 80(9): 896-903.
- Mathiowetz V., Volland G., Kashman N., Weber K. Adult norms for the Box and Block Test of manual dexterity. Am J Occup Ther 1985; 39(6): 386-391. doi: 10.5014/ajot.39.6.386.
- Wijeratne T, Sales C. Understanding Why Post-Stroke Depression May Be the Norm Rather Than the Exception: The Anatomical and Neuroinflammatory Correlates of Post -Stroke Depression. J Clin Med. 2021 Apr 14; 10(8): 1674. doi: 10.3390/jcm10081674.
 Veenstra L., Schneider I.K., Koole S.L. Em-
- Veenstra L., Schneider I.K., Koole S.L. Embodied mood regulation: the impact of body posture on mood recovery, negative thoughts, and mood-congruent recall. Cogn Emot 2017; 31(7): 1361-1376. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2016.1225003.
- Winters A. Emotion, embodiment, and mirror neurons in dance/movement therapy: A connection across disciplines. Am J Dance Ther 2008; 30(2): 84.
- Awad S., Debatin T., Ziegler A. Embodiment: I sat, I felt, I performed - Posture effects on mood and cognitive performance. Acta Psychol (Amst) 2021; 218: 103353. doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy.2021.103353.
- Moltrasio J., Dominguez F., Detlefsen V. et al. Música y emocionalidad: efectos de la música sobre el estado de ánimo y la memoria verbal [Music and emotionality: effects of music on mood and verbal memory]. Vertex 2021; XXXII (154): 14-20. Spanish. doi: 10.53680/vertex.v32i154.111.
- Nagy E., Posa G., Finta R., Szilagyi L., Sziver E. Perceptual Aspects of Postural Control: Does Pure Proprioceptive Training Exist? Perceptual and Motor Skills 2018; 125(3): 581-595.
- Miura A., Fujii S., Yamamoto Y., Kudo K. Motor control of rhythmic dance from a dynamical systems perspective: a review. J Dance Med Sci 2015; 19(1): 11-21. doi: 10.12678/1089-313X.19.1.11.
- Shumway-Cook A., Woollacott M. Motor Control: Translating Research into Clinical Practice (4th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins 2012: 16-18.
- Zentgraf K., Munzert J. Effect of attentional focus instructions on movement kinematics. Psychol Sport Exerc 2009; 10: 520-525.
 Emanuel M., Jarus T., Bart O. Effect of focus
- Emanuel M., Jarus T., Bart O. Effect of focus of attention and age on motor acquisition, retention, and transfer: a randomized trial. Phys Ther 2008; 88(2): 251-60. doi: 10.2522/ ptj.20060174.
- Wulf N., McNevin C.H. The automaticity of complex motor skill learning as a function of attention focus. Q J Exp Psychol 2001; 54: 1143-1154.
- Karpodini C.C., Dinas P.C., Angelopoulou E. et al. Rhythmic cueing, dance, resistance training, and Parkinson's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Front Neurol 2022; 9(13): 875178. doi: 10.3389/ fneur.2022.875178.

Address for correspondence

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Edit Nagy, PT, Ph.D., college professor

Department of Physiotherapy, Faculty of Health and Social Sciences, University of Szeged, Szeged, Hungary Temesvári krt. 31. 6726, Hungary Phone: +36545037 e-mail: nagy.edit@szte.hu